No. 20-123216-S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

ZACHARY JACOB MCFALL Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable David Debenham, Judge District Court Case No. 19 CR 1946

> Jennifer C. Roth #18858 Kansas Appellate Defender Office Jayhawk Tower 700 SW Jackson, Suite 900 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 296-5484 (785) 296-2869 fax adoservice@sbids.org Attorney for the Appellant

Table	of	Contents
10010	~	0011001100

Nature of the C	Sase	1
Issues to be Co	nsidered	1
Statement of Fa	acts	1
Arguments and	l Authorities	16

Nature of the Case

Zachary McFall and Joaquin McKinney were just kids—both 16 years old. (R. 19: State's Exs. 71, 156). What might have been a temporary "beef" between friends became a permanent loss when a bullet fired by Danny Williams killed Joaquin. (R. 14: 707, 750; R. 15: 964, 986, 1040-41). The district court authorized prosecution of Zachary in adult court, where a jury found him guilty of both forms of first-degree murder and criminal discharge of a firearm at an occupied vehicle. The court sentenced him to life in prison with no possibility of parole until he is 66. Zachary appeals from his convictions and sentence.

Issues to be Considered

Issue 1.	The district court made errors of fact and law when it denied Zachary's request for new counsel.
Issue 2.	Trial counsel's failure to function as an advocate at sentencing denied Zachary his Sixth Amendment right to counsel.
Issue 3.	The State's comments misstated the law on (1) first-degree murder, (2) aiding and abetting liability, and (3) premeditation.
Issue 4.	The district court did not appropriately instruct the jury on how to consider (1) first-degree and second-degree murder and (2) the State's aiding and abetting theory.
Issue 5.	The combination of the jury instruction errors and the State's errors in closing argument deprived Zachary of a fair trial.

Statement of Facts

Introduction

Before going into detail about what happened before and during Zachary's

court proceedings, here is an overview of the quick progression of this case:

Date	What happened	Pincite
July 25, 2019	Joaquin was killed	R. 1: 18
July 27, 2019	Zachary turned himself in to police	R. 15: 964
July 30, 2019	 State filed Complaint against Zachary in 19 JV 319, charging (1) premeditated first-degree murder; (2) first-degree felony murder; and (3) criminal discharge of a firearm at an occupied vehicle State filed Motion to Authorize Prosecution as an Adult Zachary was appointed a "Guardian ad Litem/Attorney" 	R. 5: 2, 11, 19
September 25, 2019	Hearing held—State's motion to prosecute Zachary in adult court; court ruled for the State	R. 1: 23; R. 5: 30
September 26, 2019	 Court dismissed 19 JV 319 State filed complaint/information in 19 CR 1946 with same charges as before; included 56 witnesses in the complaint 	R. 1: 18-20; R. 5: 36
September 27, 2019	First appearance on 19 CR 1946— court appointed Zachary an attorney	R. 1: 26-27
October 2, 2019	Attorney had to withdraw, and new counsel was appointed	R. 1: 36, 38, 42
October 29, 2019	Hearing held—Zachary's "presence is waived"; court granted the State's request for a consolidated preliminary hearing (with two co-defendants)	R. 1: 55
November 12, 2019	Preliminary hearing—Zachary and two others bound over on all counts	R. 1: 60
November 14, 2019	Arraignment—case set for pretrial on February 20 and trial on March 16; State moved to endorse 67 witnesses	R. 1: 65, 71
December 6, 2019	Motion to endorse granted	R. 1: 76
February 18, 2020	Trial counsel filed Motion to Determine Competency to Stand Trial and Motion to Withdraw as Counsel of Record	R. 1: 81, 83
February 20, 2020 February 27, 2020	Hearing held—court granted motion for competency evaluation with Dr. Blakely; set competency hearing and motion for new counsel for March 6 Dr. Blakely met with Zachary	R. 1: 84 R. 22: 1
1 001 daiy 21, 2020	Dr. Dianciy met with Dathary	IV, 22, I

March 6, 2020	Hearing held—State and trial counsel stipulated to Dr. Blakely's report (signed on March 5) finding Zachary competent; court denied motion for new counsel; parties filled out pretrial conference form	R. 1: 91
March 12, 2020	Chief Justice Luckert signed Kansas Judicial Branch Policy on Pandemic Disease	2020-PR-013
March 16, 2020	Jury trial began	
March 18, 2020	Chief Justice Luckert signed Order Imposing Statewide Judiciary Restricted Operations Due to COVID- 19 Emergency	2020-PR-016
March 20, 2020	Jury trial ended	R. 1: 122
July 23, 2020	Sentencing	R. 17: 1

Pretrial proceedings in 19 CR 1946

The first time Zachary appeared with counsel in "adult court" was at the preliminary hearing on November 12, 2019. Before that, his attorney had appeared in court twice on Zachary's behalf, but without Zachary present. (R. 1: 43, 55, 60; R. 3: 2). At arraignment on November 14, the court set the case for a pretrial conference on February 20 and trial on March 16. (R. 1: 73).

Trial counsel and Zachary express problems

On February 18, 2020, Zachary's attorney filed a Motion to Determine Competency to Stand Trial, which began with "[t]he accused is a minor, in custody and is currently charged with First Degree Murder. It is movant's understanding that the accused has been treated for mental illness in the past and has a family history of the same." (R. 1: 81). Counsel requested that the court sent Zachary to Larned for a competency evaluation and that Dr. Flesher "be appointed to determine whether the accused has the ability to assist his counsel in his defense." (R. 1: 82). Counsel also filed a Motion to Withdraw, stating that Zachary had instructed him to file the motion. (R. 1: 83). Two days later, the court held a hearing on the motions. (R. 10: 1). Zachary had written a letter to the court:¹

THE COURT: Okay. We were set for pretrial today. Motion -- jury trial is set March 16th. I've received a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel, a Motion to Determine Competency, and Mr. McFall has filed a paper. I'm not sure what you wanted done. What did you want done on your paper? What are you requesting? DEFENDANT MCFALL: A new attorney. THE COURT: Is that what you're requesting? DEFENDANT MCFALL: Yeah. Yes, sir. THE COURT: It really helps if you double space it. It's easier to read.

(R. 10: 2).

Counsel began his argument in support of a competency evaluation with "number one, he's a minor." (R. 10: 3). He had reviewed "about 200 pages of records" that he received from Family Service and Guidance Center—records that he had shared with the State. (R. 10: 3-5). Zachary first went to the Center when he was five years old; the records continued through the end of 2018. (R. 10: 5). "[T]hose records were rife with symptoms or issues presented by Mr. McFall and his parents concerning ability to concentrate, ability to remain focused, issues with disruptive and impulsive behavior." (R. 10: 6). Counsel expressed concern that Zachary was "young." (R. 10: 8).

¹ The court did not file it so counsel is attempting to locate it in order to add it to the record.

Counsel also asked the court to appoint Dr. Flesher "to do a complete psychiatric workup" of Zachary. (R. 10: 9). The court told counsel it was up to him if he wanted to hire Dr. Flesher, and he would have to seek funding from BIDS. (R. 10: 10-12). Whether this ever happened is unknown; there is no mention of Dr. Flesher again. (R. 8, 11-17, generally).

The court granted the motion for a competency evaluation, and noted that trial was set for March 16. (R. 10: 13). The court advised Zachary of his right to a trial in 150 days, and court and counsel discussed taking it off the jury trial calendar. (R. 10: 16-17). But the State interjected that "the Court couldn't even consider taking any sort of waiver" from Zachary at that time, "given that all proceedings are stayed pending competency[.]" (R. 10: 17-18). The court set the competency hearing and motion for new counsel for March 6. (R. 10: 18).

Before the court closed the proceedings, Zachary addressed the court, "apologiz[ed] for taking [its] time," briefly explained his concerns, and asked for a new attorney. (R. 10: 18-19). The court said they would take that up on March 6 because of the pending competency determination. (10: 19).

At the February 20 hearing, counsel admitted he had not provided Zachary with paper discovery, but had done what he "define[s] as discovery": "advising the client of the State's theory of the case and all of the facts that are alleged." (R. 10: 12). But counsel agreed to give Zachary his discovery, adding "what's going to be required is I'm going to have to take a Sharpie and go through all of those reports and redact or scratch out all of the identification information[.]" (R. 10: 12-13).

Dr. Blakely's evaluation

Dr. Blakely's interview with Zachary was on February 27. (R. 22: 1). Dr.

Blakely signed his report on March 5-the day before the court reviewed it and used

it to rule on Zachary's competency, then minutes later taking up Zachary's motion

for a new attorney. (R. 8: 3-5). According to Dr. Blakely:

[Zachary] understands the roles of the various Court officers. He understands that a lawyer is supposed to "defend me", "help me through the case", "prove I'm not guilty", and he adds "not call me a dumbass". He says the lawyer called him that as he was leaving. The patient had told the lawyer that he did not want this lawyer anymore; he wants to switch lawyers and that was the occasion of the comment that the patient is claiming. He also adds the lawyer is supposed to "make a case for me, believe in me".

He does say that they say big words in Court. He does not always understand all of them. He feels that [his lawyer] "has not done anything for me". He has only see him three times, and he has been here "seven months". He says that he did say "I hope that God will help me"; "I hope the judge will help me."

(R. 22: 2).

Although he gave them to the State, Zachary's attorney did not provide Dr.

Blakely with all of the reports from Family Service and Guidance Center; Dr.

Blakely only had ones from July 21, 2008, to September 28, 2011. (R. 22: 1). Zachary

told Dr. Blakely that he no longer took his previously prescribed medicines, which

he thought may have been a mistake. (R. 22: 2). He told Dr. Blakely that he had

been on growth hormones, and that his 5'3" sister "is quite a bit taller than he is."

(R. 22: 3). Dr. Blakely found Zachary "fairly easy to establish a rapport with." (R.

22:4).

In the "Key Problems and Goals" section of his report, Dr. Blakely concluded:

The first problem is competence, and while this patient does hear some voices and **he has some learning disability** he also has a serious substance abuse problem. Today he is clearly competent. He clearly understands the charges. He does not like his lawyer; there is a problem going on there it sounds like. **It may come out of misinformation or it may come out of not understanding,** but it does not come out of psychosis as I see him today. He understands the charges, and **if he gets the right lawyer or irons things out with this lawyer, he can help in his own defense.**

(R. 22: 6-7) (emphasis added).

Zachary's concerns, his attorney's response, and the court's ruling

The hearing on March 6 began with the parties saying they had no objection

to Dr. Blakely's report, other than:

MR. CHAPPAS: Judge, I have no objections to the doctor's finding of the defendant to be competent. I do have an objection to the -- to the examiners conclusion of fact that I called Mr. McFall a name, so I'll object to that part of the report. But the rest of it, I have no objection to.

(R. 8: 2). After noting that objection, the court relied on the report to find Zachary competent to stand trial. (R. 8: 3).

Then the court excused everyone but Zachary and his attorney from the courtroom. (R. 8: 4). Zachary explained that he felt it was a conflict of interest that his attorney had represented a woman who "was defending the people that killed his" cousin about two years before: "she was there during the murder which everybody says she set it up." (R. 8: 5-9). His second problem was he had only seen his attorney three times and still did not have his discovery; he had not read the reports himself. (R. 8: 9-11).

His attorney confirmed he had represented a material witness in the homicide of Zachary's cousin, and was still representing her in a drug case. (R. 8: 12-13). When the court said it seemed like there was no conflict, counsel agreed: "I can't see one." (R. 8: 13).

The court asked the attorney to "address [Zachary's] second complaint." (R. 8: 13). The attorney admitted he still had "not sat down and provided [Zachary] with the actual police reports." (R. 8: 13). He went on about discussions he had had with Zachary's former attorney from the waiver hearing, Zachary's parents, and Zachary himself. He talked about things he tells all his clients. (R. 8: 13-24). He finished by addressing the "dumbass" comment, then volunteered "as an officer of the court, if the Court's question to me is if you have an opinion as to whether there's a basis under the law to justify my removal as counsel and my answer is no." (R. 8: 13, 24). The court denied Zachary's motion:

What I find in this case is the defendant is being represented by competent counsel, that counsel provided discovery, analysis, suggestions, his take on the case, has gone over the evidence in this case, besides which the defendant had a full hearing in juvenile court before he was waived upwards as part of the waiver. He had a full preliminary hearing in this case. I adopt the findings – the statements made by Mr. Chappas of his representation and I find the defendant has not met his burden in this case the [sic] show that there is a conflict as – as a valid reason for the appointment of new counsel in this case, that his dissatisfaction with Mr. Chappas is unjustified. So that motion for new counsel is denied.

(R. 8: 25-26).

Trial proceedings

At trial, the State admitted almost 200 exhibits and called 34 witnesses. (R.

11: 2-7). The State submitted proposed jury instructions. (R. 1: 93). During the

instructions conference, the State told the court that "[b]ased on the evidence that was presented, and I think the current state of the law, a lesser second degree intentional would be required." (R. 15: 1011, 1024-25).

Zachary's attorney filed no evidentiary pretrial motions, submitted no proposed jury instructions, had no objections to the jury instructions, requested no jury instructions, called no witnesses, introduced no exhibits, waived opening statement, and gave a closing argument that, in his own words, was "extremely, extremely brief"—it fits on one transcript page. (R. 1: generally; R. 11: 2-7; R. 12: 234; R. 15: 993, 998, 1020, 1046). Out of the State's 34 witnesses, trial counsel asked no questions of 19 of them. (R. 12: 376, 441, 450; R. 13: 484, 598, 612, 648, 678; R. 14: 756, 782, 792, 813, 846, 877, 885, 889, 915, 930; R. 15: 989). After the jury found Zachary guilty, trial counsel filed no sentencing motions. (R. 1: 13-15; R. 15: 1053).

Evidence

Knowing that the State is likely to extensively discuss the evidence it produced at trial in its brief, the following facts are relatively brief.

According to Didier Cosey—who was also 16 years old—he, Joaquin McKinney, Jacob Powell, and Joaquin's cousin "Bop" were all hanging out at Joaquin's house on July 25, 2019. (R. 14: 691-92, 723). Three of them were playing a video game while Jacob, who is a rapper, wrote a song. (R. 14: 694). At some point in the afternoon, they got in Joaquin's car—Joaquin was driving, Bop was in the front passenger seat, Jacob was behind Joaquin, and Didier was behind Bop. (R. 14: 698). At trial, Didier claimed he didn't know why they got in the car, or where they were

going. (R. 14: 698-700). But he told the police something different on July 25. (R. 14: 717). Detective Hayden testified that Didier told him that "Zach called Mr. McKinney on the telephone and that Mr. Cosey and Mr. McFall were kind of feuding over a girl, because -- so Mr. Cosey had been out of town, and when he got back, this girl had told him, hey, Mr. McKinney and said some things about you, had posted some comments on Facebook about some of my pictures, and then shared that information, and then there was this -- kind of this feud between Mr. McFall and Mr. Cosey....They agreed to meet at Betty Phillips Park to fight." (R. 14: 750). It was just going to be a fistfight between Zachary and Didier, but Zachary's brother might be there. (R. 14: 750, 752). Didier told Det. Hayden that when Zachary didn't show up at the park, they went to a house nearby, where Joaquin and Bop "shot at the house." (R. 14: 752).

At trial, Didier admitted they did a "drive-and-go" by a house near Betty Phillips Park, where Joaquin fired off four to five shots straight up in the air. (R. 14: 701-06, 733). Didier and Jacob asked to get dropped off at Jacob's house "[b]ecause we didn't want nothing to do with it." (R. 14: 706-07). At about 37th and Adams, someone in the car said, "that's them," and "that's when it all started." (R. 14: 704, 709-10). He and Jacob ducked down on the floor of the backseat, and Didier heard shots. (R. 14: 710-11). He didn't look up until the car stopped, and that's when he saw Joaquin had been shot. (R. 14: 712-13). Joaquin had a bullet come through the right side of his thigh, but the one that killed him came through his headrest. (R. 13: 527, 530).

As for the "it" Didier referred to, multiple witnesses testified to seeing a blue car following a white car down 37th Street, with a young man—who was not Zachary—sitting on the rolled-down passenger-side window. He had a semiautomatic rifle on the roof and was shooting at the white car, which crashed a few blocks later. (See, *e.g.*, R. 12: 239, 268, 274; R. 13: 486). Witnesses testified to hearing other shots coming from the blue car. (See, *e.g.*, R. 12: 351, 358; R. 13: 510).

Darin Disney saw or heard everything that afternoon. He was out picking up sticks in his yard at 3350 Irvingham, which is a block from Betty Phillips Park, when a white car he didn't know pulled up. (R. 13: 647, 649-50). A hand came out of the driver's side and fired shots up in the air. (R. 13: 649, 654). Mr. Disney called 911 and, while on the phone with dispatch, a blue car pulled up. (R. 13: 654-56; R. 20: State's Ex. 113). A group of kids congregated on his front porch at the same time the blue car showed up. (R. 13: 660). People Mr. Disney knew named Tay and Danny (later identified as Danny Williams and Lavonte Johnson) ran up to the blue car, which was driven by a white, young, black-haired kid who Mr. Disney didn't know. (R. 12: 352; R. 13: 655-56, 659; R. 20: State's Ex. 113). Danny and Tay came from a neighboring house, each carrying a bag, and jumped into the blue car. (R. 13: 655-660, 663; R. 15: 948; R. 20: State's Ex. 113). Mr. Disney thought he heard Tay say "let's go get 'em" and Danny say "yeah". (R. 13: 665).

This same afternoon, Zachary and older brother, Lee McFall, were at their dad's house, working on Zachary's car. (R. 14: 890, 892; R. 15: 986). Lee overheard Zachary "having an argument or disagreement" with Joaquin and Didier over "a

stolen handgun." (R. 15: 986-87). Zachary asked Lee to follow him to Betty Phillips Park, which he did. (R. 14: 894, 896-97). Zachary was by himself in his blue Pontiac. Once Lee saw Zachary arrive at the park, he went his own way. (R. 14: 898; R. 988). He got a call from Zachary, which his phone recorded automatically; Lee later shared the recording with the police. (R. 14: 905-07; R. 20: State's Ex. 143). Lee testified that Zachary sounded "real scared": "I will never forget that. It's the sound of his voice. You could just hear that there was something wrong." (R. 14: 901). Zachary said, "hey Lee ... they just slid on me bro ... I am fixin to slide back on them bro ... Come on bro." (R. 20: State's Ex. 143). Lee said, "Tm coming." Lee testified that he "was gonna try to protect my little brother and try to help him.... Get them out of harm's way, if it ever could be possible." (R. 14: 912).

Zachary kept asking his brother to come on, then said he was going back to Danny's house. (R. 20: State's Ex. 143). Lee picked Zachary up from Danny's house (by Mr. Disney's house) and took him back to their dad's house. (R. 14: 902). Their neighbor, Jeff Orender, claimed that Zachary told him "he thought he might have killed a kid" and heard Zachary tell his dad that he didn't shoot him. (R. 20: State's Ex. 146). Mr. Orender said, "he ain't a bad kid," to which Detective Jones replied, "making some bad choices, bad friends," and Mr. Orender said, "Exactly." (R. 20: State's Ex. 146).

When the State asked, Lee said he didn't know what "they just slid on me" and "fixing to slide back on them" meant. (R. 14: 910-11). The lead detective in the case, Detective Strathman, couldn't say what it meant. (R. 15: 815, 977-78).

Witnesses testified that in Joaquin's lap was a .380 handgun, wrapped in a mask that said "Thug Life" on it. (R. 12: 316, 454-55, 462, 467-68; R. 14: 714; R. 15: 951; R. 20: State's Ex. 107). In Joaquin's car, they found items that only could have come from occupants in the car: an unfired .45 bullet, a spent .45 casing, and an unfired .22 bullet. (R. 13: 565-79). In front of Mr. Disney's house, the police found four .380 casings and two .45 casings. (R. 13: 635-38). Det. Strathman confirmed that the .380 casings came from Joaquin's gun. (R. 14: 855, 860; R. 15: 951-52). Neither Bop nor a .45 firearm were located. (R. 15: 952-53).

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