Case 123216 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURTS Filed 2023 May 19 PM 5:14

No. 20-123216-S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff / Appellee

vs.

ZACHARY JACOB MCFALL Defendant / Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas Honorable David Debenham, Judge District Court Case 19 CR 1946

> JODI LITFIN, # 24638 Deputy District Attorney Office of the District Attorney 200 SE 7th Street, Suite 214 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 251-4330 Fax: (785) 251-4909 jodi.litfin@snco.us Attorney for Appellee

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

Defense counsel also noted that he had met with the Defendant's parents numerous times to discuss the charges and penalties and that they related to him that they were discussing this with the Defendant. Defense counsel then made lengthy and detailed comments to the district court about everything that he had done with the Defendant throughout the case. (R. 8, 13-24.) At the end of defense counsel's remarks, he stated, "as an officer of the court, if the Court's question to me is if you have an opinion as to whether there is a basis under the law to justify my removal as counsel and my answer is no. I'm ready to proceed but that decision is yours." (R. 8. 24.) After defense counsel's comments the district court asked if the Defendant had anything to add. The Defendant responded, "No, sir." (R. 8, 24.) The district court denied the motion for new counsel. The district court held:

As to the defendant's motion for new counsel, that is denied. What I find in this case is that the defendant is being represented by competent counsel, that counsel has provided discovery, analysis, suggestions, his take on the case, has gone over the evidence in this case, besides which the defendant had a full hearing in juvenile court before he was waived upwards as part of the waiver. He had a full preliminary hearing – evidentiary preliminary hearing in this case. I adopt the findings – the statements made by defense counsel of his representation and I find the defendant has not met his burden in this case [to] show that there is a conflict as – as a valid reason for the appointment of new counsel in this case, that his dissatisfaction with [defense counsel] is unjustified. So that motion for new counsel is denied.

(R. 8, 25-26.)

Standard of Review

Whether the district court adequately discharges its duty to inquire into a potential conflict of interest is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. McDaniel*, 306 Kan. 595, 606, 395 P.3d 429 (2017). A court abuses its discretion when its decision is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable or based on a mistake of fact or law. *State v. Moyer*, 306 Kan. 342, Syl. ¶ 4, 410 P.3d 71 (2017). When a potential conflict of interest arises as to an attorney's representation, a district court can abuse its discretion in three ways: (1) by failing to inquire about a potential conflict; (2) by failing to appropriately inquire (by not investigating the basis of the complaint or the facts underlying it); and (3) by reaching an unreasonable result after an appropriate inquiry. *McDaniel*, 306 Kan. at 606-07; see also *State v. Toothman*, 310 Kan. 542, 554, 448 P.3d 1039 (2019) (describing

appropriate inquiry).

Argument

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Pfannenstiel*, 302 Kan. 747, 758, 357 P.3d 877 (2015). This right carries with it "a correlative right to representation that is unimpaired by conflicts of interest or divided loyalties." 302 Kan. at 758.

The district court is charged with ensuring a defendant receives conflict-free representation. *State v. McDaniel*, 306 Kan. 595, 606, 395 P.3d 429 (2017). To carry out this obligation, a district court has an independent duty to inquire further when it either becomes aware or should have been aware of a potential conflict of interest. *State v. Prado*, 299 Kan. 1251, 1257, 329 P.3d 473 (2014); *State v. Sharkey*, 299 Kan. 87, Syl. ¶ 2, 322 P.3d 325 (2014). Practically speaking, this means that when a district court receives "an articulated statement of attorney dissatisfaction," the court must inquire into the alleged conflict. *McDaniel*, 306 Kan. at 606. The existence of this duty turns on the allegation of a conflict, not the particular relief sought by the defendant. *Pfannenstiel*, 302 Kan. at 760.

An appropriate inquiry involves "fully investigating both the basis for the defendant's dissatisfaction with counsel and the facts necessary for determining whether the dissatisfaction justifies appointing new counsel." *State v. Staten*, 304 Kan. 957, Syl. ¶ 8, 377 P.3d 427 (2016). At the same time, the district court need not undergo a "detailed examination of every nuance of a defendant's claim A

single, open-ended question by the trial court may suffice if it provides the defendant with the opportunity to explain." 304 Kan. at 972-73. The focus is not on the defendant's relationship with the attorney, but on whether the attorney can adequately represent the defendant's interests. *Pfannenstiel*, 302 Kan. at 761-62.

To begin his analysis, the Defendant includes a section entitled "Additional Context." (Appellant's Brief, 17-21.) In this section, the Defendant asserts that due to his minority age, he was still a child, even if he was being prosecuted in adult court. See K.S.A. 38-101 (period of minority). The Defendant includes a nonexclusive list of what children are allowed to do and not allowed to do under numerous Kansas statutes and laws. The Defendant contends that because he was a child, the district court must take into consideration what we know about children generally as well as the Defendant as an individual, when addressing a motion for new counsel in this circumstance.

The Defendant fails to adequately explain how his youth amounted to justifiable dissatisfaction. Nor is there anything in the record to support the Defendant's claim that despite the fact that he was prosecuted as an adult, the district court did not fully consider the circumstances present in this case when determining whether he had established justifiable dissatisfaction warranting the appointment of new counsel.

Here, the Defendant's request for new counsel alerted the district court to the potential conflict of interest between him and defense counsel. The district court then set a hearing, appropriately inquired about the potential conflict, and reached

a reasonable result when it denied the Defendant's motion. The Defendant's contention that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his motion has no merit.

The record establishes that the district court asked the Defendant for the reasons he was requesting a new attorney, and the Defendant explained his reasons. Then defense counsel explained his working relationship with the Defendant and informed the district court that he did not believe there was a legal reason to remove him as counsel. (R. 8, 24.)

The Defendant was given the chance to tell the district court any and all additional reasons why he believed there was a conflict of interest, irreconcilable disagreement, or potential breakdown of communication between he and defense counsel. Despite the chance to elaborate, the Defendant offered no other reasons. Contrary to the Defendant's argument, the district court conducted an appropriate inquiry into any potential conflict of interest, offered the Defendant the opportunity to present any other reasons or concerns, and went through the listed reasons in his motion.

The district court found no conflict of interest in defense counsel's representation of a woman who was a material witness in a prior homicide case. The district court did not abuse its discretion in making this finding.

The Defendant next claims the district court abused its discretion when it did not specifically ask him about certain statements he made to Dr. Blakely that were in the competency evaluation. Notably, the competency evaluation is used to

determine whether the Defendant is competent or not. The purpose of the evaluation is not for the district court to comb through to find statements by the Defendant that might support justifiable dissatisfaction. The Defendant ignores the fact that he was given two opportunities by the district court to express all his concerns about defense counsel and provide the reasons he believed he was entitled to new counsel.

Additionally, in an earlier hearing, the Defendant told the district court that defense counsel had called him a "dumbass," so the district court was aware of this complaint even if he did not specifically ask the Defendant about it. Defense counsel denied calling the Defendant this name, and the district court accepted defense counsel's statement.

The Defendant also contends that the district court abused its discretion when it failed to ask defense counsel about "the concerns Dr. Blakely identified during the evaluation." (Appellant's Brief, 24.) The evaluation mentioned that the Defendant said that "they say big words in Court" and that he does not always understand all of them, he may have made a mistake getting off of his medication, he shows cognitive slippage, and that he can help in his own defense if he gets the right lawyer or irons things out with his current lawyer. (R. 22, 1-7.) Again, the Defendant was given the opportunity to explain that defense counsel used words that he did not understand, and thus, there was a breakdown in communication or he was unable to communicate with defense counsel. But the Defendant did not raise that concern at the hearing. The other concerns identified by the Defendant in

the evaluation focused more on whether the Defendant was competent, which he was found to be.

The Defendant also claims that the district court aggravated the conflict when it did nothing to shut down defense counsel when he went beyond factual statements into "confidential client communications" and started advocating against his client. (Appellant's Brief, 25.) Here, defense counsel was merely responding to the Defendant's claims at the request of the district court during an in camera hearing. Defense counsel did not disclose confidential client communications, nor did he advocate against his client's position. Defense counsel informed the district court about his work with the Defendant on the case and left the ultimate decision about whether new counsel should be appointed up to the district court. Defense counsel provided his honest opinion to the district court that he did not believe there was any legal reason for him to withdraw as counsel.

Nor should this Court conclude that there is a duty to advocate to be removed as counsel. If this duty existed, courts would have an even more challenging time finding attorneys willing and able to remain on cases with difficult clients.

Lastly, the district court did not place undue emphasis on defense counsel's statement that the Defendant was present at his juvenile hearing and preliminary hearing as support that the Defendant was aware of the evidence and alleged facts of the case and the State's theory of aiding and abetting. The Defendant's claim was that defense counsel never explained the State's theory of the case or any of the evidence to him, essentially that he knew nothing of the case. Defense counsel

simply noted that the Defendant was present at two hearings where evidence was presented and he had to have some knowledge as to the allegations and evidence against him.

None of these reasons establish an abuse of discretion by the district court. The Defendant did not establish justifiable dissatisfaction with defense counsel, e.g., an irreconcilable conflict or a complete breakdown in communication. Accordingly, it was not unreasonable for the district court to deny the Defendant's request.

II. The Defendant was not denied the right to effective assistance of counsel at sentencing under *Cronic*.

Preservation

As noted by the Defendant, this issue was not raised before the district court and is not preserved for this Court's review. "Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, as a general rule, cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Rather, in most cases a trial court must consider the evidence to determine the two-prong test for establishing ineffective assistance of counsel." *Trotter v. State*, 288 Kan. 112, Syl. ¶ 1, 200 P.3d 1236 (2009). An appellate court may consider a claim of ineffective assistance for the first time on appeal if: (1) there are no factual issues in dispute, and (2) the test for ineffective assistance of counsel can be resolved as a matter of law based on the record. *State v. Salary*, 309 Kan. 479, 483-84, 437 P.3d 953 (2019).

The Defendant claims that this Court may consider the issue because it presents a case-dispositive question of law, based on undisputed facts. The

Defendant also notes that this issue concerns his fundamental constitutional right to counsel. However, neither reason requires this Court to address the issue.

An appellate court's decision to review an unpreserved claim under an exception is a prudential decision, and even when an exception is satisfied, appellate courts need not review the newly asserted claim. *State v. Gray*, 311 Kan. 164, 170, 459 P.3d 165 (2020). In *Gray*, this Court held: "The decision to review an unpreserved claim under an exception is a prudential one. Even if an exception would support a decision to review a new claim, we have no obligation to do so." 311 Kan. 164, Syl. ¶ 1. It then "decline[d] to utilize any potentially applicable exception to review Gray's new [identical offense doctrine] claim" based on this rule. 311 Kan. at 170. In fact, it clarified that it would not consider Gray's identical offense doctrine argument because by not making the argument before the district court, Gray "deprived the trial judge of the opportunity to address the issue in the context of [his] case" and therefore also deprived it of significant analysis that would have benefited its review. 311 Kan. at 170.

Here, by not making his argument below, the Defendant deprived the district court of the opportunity to consider his argument. As such, this Court should decline to address the Defendant's claim that he was denied his right to effective counsel at sentencing raised for the first time on appeal.

Standard of Review

Whether an issue is preserved for appellate review is a question of law, over which this court exercises unlimited review. *State v. Plummer*, 295 Kan. 156, Syl. ¶

1, 283 P.3d 202 (2012). Additionally, the Defendant claims that his Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated—a question that this Court reviews de novo. See *State v. Robinson*, 303 Kan. 11, 85, 363 P.3d 875 (2015), *disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Cheever*, 304 Kan. 866, 375 P.3d 979 (2016).

Argument

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on deficient performance are controlled by the two-prong *Strickland* analysis. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show (1) his attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Balbirnie v. State*, 311 Kan. 893, 894, 468 P.3d 334 (2020) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 [1984]).

There is an exception to the general *Strickland* rule known as the *Cronic* exception. The *Cronic* exception applies only when a defendant is denied the assistance of counsel or denied counsel at a critical stage of a proceeding. Under these circumstances, a court may presume the defendant was prejudiced. *Fuller v. State*, 303 Kan. 478, 486-87, 363 P.3d 373 (2015) (relying on *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 658-59, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 [1984]). *Cronic* applies in rare circumstances: "This narrow exception, referred to as the *Cronic* exception, is 'reserved for situations in which counsel has entirely failed to function as the client's advocate.' This Court has stressed this last point, emphasizing 'the attorney's failure must be complete,' that is, the *Cronic*-type presumption applies

only ' "if counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing." ' [Citations omitted.]" *Edgar v. State*, 294 Kan. 828, 840, 283 P.3d 152 (2012).

The Defendant argues that the *Cronic* exception should apply because his attorney denied him counsel at sentencing by failing to file a departure motion and his attorney's comments. The Defendant only argues that the *Cronic* exception applies and does not argue that he can establish deficiency and prejudice under the *Strickland* standard. Thus, he has waived any such argument. See *State v. Boleyn*, 297 Kan. 610, 633, 303 P.3d 680 (2013) (Issues not briefed are deemed waived or abandoned).

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